1991

Utah v. Rowe : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This case is before the Court on a writ of certiorari to the Utah Court of Appeals. This Court has jurisdiction to hear the case under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(a) (Supp. 1991).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

AND STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review:

1. Did the majority of the court of appeals erroneously conclude that a violation of the nighttime search warrant authorization provision, Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-5 (1990), constitutes a constitutional violation such that the "exclusionary rule" is applicable? Did the majority of the court of appeals erroneously conclude that the officers acted in "bad faith" in executing the search warrant, in view of their contemporaneous valid arrest of the home's owner?

The determination of whether a violation of a rule of criminal procedure amounts to a constitutional violation requiring the exclusion of evidence is a question of law and is

reviewed on appeal under a correction of error standard. State v. Fixel, 744 P.2d 1366 (Utah 1987); Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985).

2. Did the majority of the court of appeals erroneously conclude that the mere status of being an "invited guest" in a third-party's home "vests" the guest with a legitimate expectation of privacy in the residence such that the guest may challenge the validity of a search warrant for the home? Did the majority improperly adopt a "legitimately on the premises" test for determining if a defendant's fourth amendment rights are implicated in a search?

The decision to grant a motion to suppress and preclude the introduction of evidence seized is a matter of law and reviewed on appeal under a correction of error standard; however, the underlying factual determinations of the trial court should be given deference and are reversed only if clearly erroneous. State v. Ramirez, 159 Utah Adv. Rep. 7, 16 n.3 (Utah April 23, 1991); State v. Ashe, 745 P.2d 1255, 1258 (Utah 1987).

3. Did the majority of the court of appeals erroneously conclude that the state must prove a defendant's abandonment of an expectation of privacy by "clear, unequivocal and decisive evidence;" and did the majority erroneously apply a subjective standard in evaluating whether abandonment occurred by improperly requiring the state to prove that defendant did not abandon the property "to avoid self-incrimination?"

This is a question of law, subject to the standard of

review delineated in paragraph 2.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Relevant constitutional provisions, statutes and rules for a determination of this case are, in pertinent part:

Utah Code Ann. § 77-7-5 (1990). Issuance of warrant - Time and place arrests may be made.

A magistrate may issue a warrant for arrest upon finding probable cause to believe that the person to be arrested has committed a public offense. If the offense charge is:

(1) a felony, the arrest upon a warrant may be made at any time of the day or night.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-5 (1990). Time for service - Officer may request assistance.

(1) The magistrate must insert a direction in the [search] warrant that it be served in the daytime, unless the affidavits or oral testimony state a reasonable cause to believe a search is necessary in the night to seize the property prior to it being concealed, destroyed, damaged or altered, or for other good reason; in which case he may insert a direction that it be served any time of the day or night. An officer may request other persons to assist him in conducting the search.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-10 (1990). Force used in executing warrant - Notice of authority prerequisite, when.

When a search warrant has been issued authorizing entry into any building, room, conveyance, compartment or other enclosure, the officer executing the warrant may use such force as is reasonably necessary to enter:

(1) If, after notice of his authority and purpose, there is no response or he is not admitted with reasonable promptness; or

(2) Without notice of his authority and purpose, if the magistrate issuing the warrant directs in the warrant that the

officer need not give notice. The magistrate shall so direct only upon proof, under oath, that the object of the search may be quickly destroyed, disposed of, or secreted, or that physical harm may result to any person if notice were given.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant, Keeley Laursen Rowe, was charged with possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine), a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) and (b)(ii) (Supp. 1989) (R. 10). Prior to trial, defendant moved to suppress the evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant executed on a third-party's home in which she was present (R. 28-31). Consistent with local rule, the matter was considered by the court without hearing, on the written memoranda submitted by the parties, and denied (R. 32-41, 51-55, 60-61). Subsequently, defendant waived her right to a jury; a bench trial was held on March 21, 1989, in the Fifth Judicial District Court, Washington County, Utah (R. 50, 62-65; T. 5). During trial, defendant reasserted her motion to suppress the evidence (T. 7-8, 104-05). The motion was again denied (T. 108). Defendant was convicted as charged (R. 65; T. 181). Defendant was sentenced to the statutory indeterminate term of zero to five years; but, imprisonment was stayed and defendant was placed on probation (R. 80-84).

On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals, in a split decision, reversed defendant's conviction and remanded the case for a new trial, concluding that (1) the search warrant improperly authorized a nighttime search, (2) the remedy for a

defective nighttime search authorization was suppression, (3) the officers' reliance on the magistrate's authorization for a nighttime search was unreasonable, (4) defendant, as an "invited guest" in a third-party's home, had an expectation of privacy in the home sufficient to allow her to challenge the search warrant, and (5) defendant had not abandoned an expectation of privacy in her purse left in the home. State v. Rowe, 806 P.2d 730 (Utah App.), cert. granted, 167 Utah Adv. Rep. 26 (Utah July 3, 1991).

On April 9, 1991, the state timely filed a petition for writ of certiorari in this Court. On July 3, 1991, the petition was granted.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The state accepts the statement of the facts contained in the opinion of the court of appeals with the following additions.

On October 6, 1989, a confidential informant told the police that Stan Swickey, the individual whose home was subsequently searched, had a large quantity of methamphetamine and marijuana at his residence in Leeds, Utah, and had offered to sell the informant "whatever he wanted" (R. 56-57; T. 12). Based on this information and prior police monitored drug purchases from Swickey, a felony arrest warrant for Swickey and a search warrant for his residence were obtained on the night of October 7, 1989 (T. 9-12, 14). The search warrant authorized the officers to execute it at night and without announcing their presence (R. 57). Within hours, the officers entered the Swickey

home to arrest Mr. Swickey and execute the search warrant (T. 15, 18).

Upon entering the home, the officers unexpectedly encountered eight other individuals in the home for what appeared to be a party (T. 16). Defendant was standing in the kitchen and the others were seated around a table in the living room (T. 16, 21). Drugs were in plain view in a cup on the living room table (T. 26, 57-58, 126).¹ The officers arrested Swickey pursuant to the arrest warrant and informed him of the search warrant (T. 17, 22).

The remaining guests, including defendant, were told that they were free to leave the premises (T. 30). Defendant asked if she could get her shoes. An officer accompanied her to a bedroom, where

[f]rom a pile of clothing next to the file cabinet she -- in which this purse was a part of that pile, she removed her shoes in that pile. In that pile there were some pants, some women's temple garments, several other items. She picked those up and her shoes up, and [the officer] asked her, "Is that everything of yours in this room? She said that was, and exited the room and [the officers] permitted her to leave.

(T. 30-31).

After defendant and the others had left, the officers conducted a search of the home (T. 31, 44). Drugs were found throughout the house, including a pile of methamphetamine on the

¹ Edwin Davis was arrested for possession of the drugs in his cup on the table. He was tried with defendant and convicted of the lesser included offense of resorting (T. 181).

dresser in the room from which defendant had retrieved her shoes. A vial of methamphetamine was found in the purse which had been left on the floor. When subsequently questioned by the police, defendant admitted that the purse and vial were hers. She stated that she had been "ripping off" Swickey during the party by filling the vial from the supply of methamphetamine on the dresser without Swickey's knowledge and without payment to him (T. 35, 49).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fundamental error of the Rowe majority is their conclusion that the search and seizure in question implicated the fourth amendment. This error was predicated on the court of appeals' misconstruction of the nature of the procedural rules governing the execution of search warrants and the nature of the remedy for their violation. By equating a violation of the nighttime search warrant authorization provision to a constitutional violation, the majority improperly rejected this Court's prior determinations that a violation of the procedural rules governing the execution of search warrants does not implicate constitutional rights such that the exclusionary rule is applicable. Further, the majority erred in concluding, under the facts of this case, that the officers acted unreasonably in relying on the magistrate's nighttime search authorization.

Based on its conclusion that any procedural violation was of constitutional magnitude, the majority of the court of appeals next considered and erroneously concluded that defendant,

as a social guest, had a sufficient expectation of privacy under the fourth amendment in the third-party home so as to permit a challenge to the validity of the search warrant. By doing so, the majority adopted a "legitimately on the premises" test for determining whether any constitutionally protected interest of defendant's had been infringed by the police action. The application of such a test for fourth amendment analysis is in conflict with established law.

The majority of the court of appeals erroneously concluded that, before a defendant may be found to have abandoned a constitutionally protected interest in property, the state must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant did not abandon the property to "avoid self-incrimination." This conclusion erroneously applies a subjective analysis to abandonment and is contrary to the prevailing view.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the court of appeals' holding which suppressed the evidence seized and reversed defendant's conviction, and should reinstate and affirm defendant's conviction.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED THAT THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE WAS APPLICABLE TO A PROCEDURAL VIOLATION OF THE NIGHTTIME SEARCH WARRANT PROVISION, UTAH CODE ANN. § 77-23-5 (1990).

In challenging the search warrant for the Swickey home, defendant never raised an issue of the warrant's substantive

statutory grounds of whether the affidavit in support of the search warrant contained sufficient justification for a no-knock entry, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-10 (1990), and for a nighttime search, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-23-5 (1990).² (See Constitutional Provisions and Statutes, supra at 4, for complete text of statutory provisions.) On appeal, the majority of the Rowe panel upheld the lower court's determination that sufficient justification existed for an unannounced entry, but overruled the magistrate's conclusion that a nighttime search was permissible. State v. Rowe, 806 P.2d 730, 732-33 (Utah App.), cert. granted, 167 Utah Adv. Rep. 26 (Utah July 3, 1991).³

Finding that the affidavit in question did not contain a sufficient justification for the nighttime entry, the majority then erroneously concluded that any violation of the statutory provision was of constitutional magnitude. Id. at 738-39. This

² Defendant also claimed that the search warrant contained the wrong date. Both the trial and appellate courts summarily discounted this argument.

³ The appellate court concluded that the mere presence of narcotics was insufficient justification for a nighttime search in that the affidavit did not establish that the "contraband was likely to be destroyed, concealed, damaged, or altered during the night." Rowe, 806 P.2d at 734. For purposes of this review, the state is not challenging the court's conclusion that there was insufficient written factual justification for the nighttime entry. However, § 77-23-5 does not require that the grounds stated for the nighttime entry override the preference for a daytime entry. Instead, the statute requires the issuing magistrate to be provided with the officer's reason for wanting a nighttime entry so that the magistrate may independently determine if the request constitutes a "good reason" for the more intrusive entry. As noted by the court of appeals, some recognized reasons are safety concerns, the dangerousness of the offender, or the likely quick removal of the evidence. Id. at 734 and n.5.

error is fundamental to the court's decision. For by concluding that the violation was of constitutional dimension, the majority also erroneously considered defendant's expectation of privacy under the fourth amendment.⁴ Both predicates are false.

The court of appeals' conclusion that noncompliance with a statutory procedural provision requires suppression of the evidence ignores Utah precedent and is in conflict with federal law. In State v. Fixel, 744 P.2d 1366, 1369 (Utah 1987), this Court concluded that despite an officer clearly acting outside of his statutory geographical authority in an undercover purchase of narcotics, suppression of the evidence obtained would be "a remedy out of all proportion to the benefits gained to the end of obtaining justice while preserving individual liberties unimpaired." This holding was based on a recognition that

[o]nly a 'fundamental' violation of a rule of criminal procedure requires automatic suppression, and a violation is 'fundamental' only where it, in effect, renders the search unconstitutional under traditional fourth

⁴ The validity of the majority's conclusion that defendant had an expectation of privacy in the Swickey home sufficient to challenge the manner of entry will be discussed in Point II of this brief. However, the majority also implicitly assumed that defendant would have standing to challenge the manner of entry even if viewed as only a procedural violation. This assumption is incorrect. Under traditional standing concepts, a movant must establish a "causal relationship alleged between the injury to [the party], the governmental actions and the relief requested." Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145, 1150 (Utah 1983). (See also footnote 7, infra at 19, for discussion of analytical differences between traditional standing and a fourth amendment expectation of privacy.) But, even if it is assumed that defendant has standing to challenge the search on the procedural ground that § 77-23-5 was violated, as will be more fully discussed, defendant's interests would not be affected by whether the search occurred in the day or night.

only where it, in effect, renders the search unconstitutional under traditional fourth amendment standards. Where the alleged violation . . . is not 'fundamental' suppression is required only where:

(1) there was 'prejudice' in the sense that the search might not have occurred or would not have been so abrasive if the rule had been followed, or (2) there is evidence of intentional and deliberate disregard of a provision of the rule.

It is only where the violation also implicated fundamental, constitutional concerns, is conducted in bad-faith or has substantially prejudiced the defendant that exclusion *may* be an appropriate remedy.

Id. at 1368-69 (quoting Commonwealth v. Mason, 507 Pa. 396, 490 A.2d 421 (1985)) (emphasis in original). Accord United States v. Schoenheit, 856 F.2d 74, 76-77 (8th Cir. 1988) (noncompliance with nighttime authorization prerequisites does not automatically require suppression of evidence); United States v. Searp, 586 F.2d 1117, 1125 (6th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 921 (1979) (violation of nighttime provision is procedural and does not require suppression; cited with approval in Fixel); United States v. Shelton, 742 F.Supp. 1491, 1502-03 (D. Wyo. 1990) (violation of nighttime search provision is statutory and does not require suppression; citing Fixel as being in accord). See also Allen v. State, 85 Md.App. 657, 584 A.2d 1279, 1286, cert. denied, 323 Md. 1, 590 A.2d 158 (1991) (failure to comply with statutory provisions governing questioning to proceed with pat-down is procedural violation and does not require suppression); State v. Ford, 801 P.2d. 754, 764-66 (Or. 1990) (failure to comply with no-knock statutory provision was excusable and did not violate the federal or state constitution); People v. Dyla,

536 N.Y.S.2d 799, 808-09, 142 A.D.2d 423 (N.Y. App. 1988) (distinct trend is towards a recognition that violation of procedural rule does not implicate fourth amendment rights and therefore suppression is not appropriate); Commonwealth v. Mason, 507 Pa. 396, 490 A.2d 421, 423-24 (1985) (suppression not appropriate remedy for technical violations of procedural rules governing the execution of search warrants); State v. Brock, 294 Or. 15, 653 P.2d 543, 547 (1982) (suppression not required for violation of nighttime search provisions); Commonwealth v. Musi, 486 Pa. 102, 404 A.2d 378, 384-85 (1979) (suppression not required for violation of procedural rules governing execution and return on search warrant).

Despite this case law, the court of appeals concluded the § 77-23-5 was not ministerial or technical in nature because it "established procedures for protection of substantive rights." Rowe, 806 P.2d at 738. While certainly the nighttime authorization provision was "designed . . . to govern the conduct of . . . officers" and encompasses "statutory conditions which explicate fundamental purposes of the Fourth Amendment," this does not mean that the statute is of constitutional stature. United States v. Searp, 586 F.2d at 1124, and cases cited above. Instead, the clear intent of § 77-23-5 is simply

to ensure that the fact that a nighttime search is contemplated by the police is brought to the attention of a magistrate and that he or she consciously decide whether such a particularly abrasive intrusion is called for in a given situation.

United States v. Searp, 586 F.2d at 1121 (commenting on identical

federal rule). For this reason,

it is important to differentiate between the *right* to be free from unnecessary and frightening intrusions by the State into our homes in the middle of the night and the *procedures* which have been established to protect that right.

Id. at 1122 (emphasis in original). Accord United States v. Schoenheit, 856 F.2d at 77 (the nighttime search authorization rule and the fourth amendment are "not coextensive"). Thus, the court's reliance on general comments that non-warrant nighttime searches were abhorred under the common law or that a night intrusion is one element in considering the reasonableness of a search is misplaced. See Rowe, 806 P.2d at 738-39. For here, assuming arguendo that the police failed to comply with the procedural requirements of § 77-23-5, "the search was nevertheless 'reasonable,' in the constitutional sense, because it was conducted pursuant to a valid state warrant, and met the requirements of the fourth amendment." United States v. Searp, 586 F.2d at 1122. Accord United States v. Schoenheit, 856 F.2d at 77 (there is "no authority for concluding that a search is *per se* unconstitutional simply because it was conducted" at night).

The purpose of the statutory search warrant entry requirements is to minimize the invasion of privacy which is being authorized by the issuance of the warrant and to protect the safety of the persons and property involved. State v. Buck, 756 P.2d 700, 701 (Utah 1988). Here, the issue is not whether Swickey's home could be searched, but simply when.

Contemporaneously with the issuance of the search warrant, the

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