1991

## Utah v. Rowe : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court denied the motion to suppress without hearing. The defendant-respondent filed a motion with the court and was awaiting response from the state prior to the time of

trial. The defendant-respondent received plaintiff's response to the motion as well as the Judge's decision denying the motion within the same week of the trial date. Transcript page 8, lines 6-11.

The court did not allow the defendant-respondent a factual hearing nor did the court make any factual findings on the record in the denial of said motion. See Rule 12, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rule 12(c). In essence, the trial court denied defendant-respondent the opportunity to respond to the issue of standing and to evidence at hearing her rights to be in the home. Based thereon, the defendant-respondent asserts:

(1) A guest in a home has standing to object to an illegal search of her personal property found within the home. This issue is resolved by a finding that the defendant-respondent had a legitimate and recognized right or expectation of privacy in her own personal property. She did not forfeit these rights at the door's front.

(2) Abandonment did not exist. By leaving her purse behind under the stress of the situation, the respondent did not manifest the necessary intent to abandon her purse in the home. The warrant may not give the police blanket authority to search the property of others found within a home. Either forgetting the purse or a disclaimer of the person was forced



by the unlawful search and the attendant search of each guest. Neither arises to the level of "abandonment".

(3) Suppression is the only remedy available. If not recognized, the statute imposing additional protections or precautions for nighttime searches, is essentially avoided and circumvented. It would be idealistic to believe police and magistrates cautiously watch over the civil rights of our citizens. Unavoidable is the fact situation present here. A magistrate rubber stamps conclusions of police officers who simply check off boxes on a pre-set form. The protection granted by constitutional mandate requires greater sanctions.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE RESPONDENT HAS STANDING TO ATTACK THE VALIDITY  
OF THE WARRANT BECAUSE HER PERSONAL RIGHTS UNDER  
THE FOURTH AMENDMENT WERE VIOLATED.

The lower court allowed the State to raise the standing issue. The respondent asserts the necessary standing to challenge the legality of the search existed. If this Court does not so agree, the defendant-respondent should be given an opportunity to be heard on that issue at an evidentiary hearing. The United States Supreme Court has abandoned an automatic standing rule based on being present or being charged with a crime involving possession in favor of one

that is based on an individual violation of a constitutionally protected interest. See United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83 (1980).

The proponent of a motion to suppress must show that their own Fourth Amendment rights were violated by the challenged search or seizure. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 130, 131 N. 1 (1978). The standard is the same under the United State Constitution and under the Utah Constitution Article I, Section 12. See State v. Constantino, 732 P.2d 1256, 126-27 (Utah 1987); State v. Iacono, 725 P.2d 1375, 1377-78 (Utah 1986); State v. Grueber, 776 P.2d 70, 73 (Ut. App. 1989); State v. DeAlo, 748 P.2d 194, 196 (Ut. App. 1987).

Under the standard articulated by the United States Supreme Court and adopted by the Utah Supreme Court the defendant-respondent has standing to challenge the search. A violation of her personal rights occurred when the officers searched her personal property, a purse. A purse of which she was essentially forced to leave at the residence, otherwise, she was to submit to a further search of herself and the purse. A purse is property protected under the constitution. U.S. Const. Amend. IV.

Since the decision in Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967), it has been the law

that "capacity to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment depends . . . upon whether the person who claims the protection of the Amendment has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place." Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143, 99 S.Ct. 421, 430, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978). A subjective expectation of privacy is legitimate if it is ["]one that society is prepared to recognize as 'reasonable,['"] id. at 143-144 n. 12, 99 S.Ct. at 430 n. 12, quoting Katz, supra, at 361, 88 S.Ct. at 516 (Harlan, J., concurring). Minnesota v. Olson, 110 S.Ct. 1684, 1687, 109 L.Ed.2d 85 (1990). The state's position that defendant-respondent failed to establish standing based on the nature of her presence in Swickey's home is not compelling.

In Olson, the Supreme Court concluded "that Olson's status as an overnight guest is alone enough to show that he had an expectation of privacy in the home that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable." Id. 110 S.Ct. at 1688. In this case, the evidence did not establish that defendant-respondent was an overnight guest in Swickey's home on the night of the search. There is, however, uncontroverted evidence that defendant-respondent had an intimate relationship with Swickey, which continued to the time of the incident. She had stayed overnight in the home on several prior occasions. She had placed her personal items as her

purse in the bedroom. At the time of the search, she was in the kitchen preparing (heating) drinks for all the guests.

Olson squarely holds that an overnight guest has such standing. Olson suggests that a social visit of a duration less than overnight would not deprive a guest of standing.

In this case, defendant-respondent felt secure enough in the home to remove her shoes, leave her purse beyond her view, and roam to rooms other than where her fellow guests were playing cards. Eschewing an analysis based on free access and right to exclude others, the Olson Court focused on the social tradition that

hosts will more likely than not respect the privacy interests of their guests, who are entitled to a legitimate expectation of privacy despite the fact that they have no legal interest in the premises and do not have the legal authority to determine who may or may not enter the household.  
Id. at 1698.

A standing challenge in the search and seizure context is resolved by a determination of "whether governmental officials violated any legitimate expectation of privacy." Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98 106, 100 S.Ct. 2556, 2562, 65 L.Ed.2d 633 (1980). The defendant's status as an invited guest in the home vested her with a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home. She would expect that her personal rights of privacy would be honored and respected. She

expected reasonably that she and her property would not be abused or violated. She thereby gained sufficient standing to challenge the validity of the search warrant and the resulting search of her purse.

She was at the place searched, and it was her property that was searched. Most importantly, it was her personal rights that were violated when the police searched through her purse.

A similar case is cited by the state, Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 97 (1980). In Rawlings the court did not find a personal violation sufficient to allow standing to the defendant not because it was a purse searched but because it was not his purse searched and he had no reasonable expectation of privacy that society was willing to recognize in the purse. Again, Mr. Swickey here may not have standing to object to the search of another's property, but Ms. Rowe does.

In Rawlings the police entered a home with an arrest warrant for the occupant. Inside the home they smelled marijuana smoke and found several people present. An officer left the home to obtain a search warrant while the remaining officers detained the occupants. The police were willing to let anyone leave if they would consent to a body search. When the officer returned with a search warrant, he directed

one of the occupants, a Ms. Vanessa Cox, to empty her purse on the coffee table. The contents partly consisted of narcotics. After dumping out her purse, she turned to the man next to her, Mr. Rawlings, and told him to take what was his. He took the drugs and at his trial motioned to suppress the evidence as the product of an illegal search. The U.S. Supreme Court rejected this claim because he did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in Ms. Cox's purse. Id. at 104.

In the case at bar, it is the owner of the purse who is claiming a violation of her constitutionally protected rights, not the home owner. She clearly has standing to contest the legality of the search of her own personal property.

The respondent has the requisite standing to challenge the validity of the search.

## POINT II

THE RESPONDENT DID NOT INTEND TO ABANDON HER PURSE  
WHEN SHE LEFT THE HOME DURING THE POLICE SEARCH.

The state claims the respondent abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy she may have had in her purse by leaving it in a place she knew would be searched. The standard of abandonment for property law is different in some respects from the standard for Fourth Amendment standing. However, the two standards are the same in one important

respect, both require an intent to abandon. "The [court] must focus on the intent of the person who is alleged to have abandoned the place or object. The test is an objective one, and intent may be inferred from 'words spoken, acts done, and other objective facts.'". United States v. Thomas, 864 F.2d 843, 846 (D.C. Cir. 1989).

Objectively looking at the circumstances under which the respondent left her purse in the house, the State cannot and does not show an intent to abandon. It is the state's burden. People v. Conreras, *infra*. The officers had burst into the house without knocking, and after sweeping the home for people, rounded everyone up in the living room. The defendant was escorted into the bedroom by a police officer to get her shoes so she could go home. She retrieved her things from a pile of clothing on the floor and thinking she had all that was hers left the home. The defendant did not intend to give up ownership of her purse and its contents to Mr. Swickey. It is more likely that under the stress of the situation and her haste to leave the stressful situation of a police search of a home, she merely forgot her purse.

However, "abandonment must be distinguished from a mere disclaimer of a property interest made to the police prior to the search, which under the better view does not defeat standing." United States v. Morales, 737 F.2d 761, 763-64

(8th Cir. 1984) (quoting 3 W. LaFave, Search and Seizure §11.3, at 548-49 (1978)).

Whether defendant-respondent had abandoned her purse, under search and seizure analysis, is primarily a factual question of intent to voluntarily relinquish a reasonable expectation of privacy, which may be inferred from "words spoken, acts done, and other objective facts." Thomas, 864 F.2d at 846 (quoting United States v. Colbert, 474 F.2d 174, 176 (5th Cir. 1973)). See also Gurgel v. Nichol, 19 Utah 2d 200, 429 P.2d 47, 48 (1967) (abandonment ordinarily a question for the factfinder to be determined from the facts and circumstances). The burden of proving abandonment falls on the state, People v. Contreras, 210 Cal.App.3d 450, 259 Cal.Rptr. 290, 293 (1989), and must be shown by "clear, unequivocal and decisive evidence." Friedman v. United States, 347 F.2d 697, 704, (8th Cir. 1965). See also United States v. Boswell 347 A.2d 270 274 (D.C. 1975); O'Shaughnessy v. State, 420 So.2d 377, 379 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App. 1982). It "is measured from the vantage point" of the defendant, and not the police. Narain v. State, 79 Md.App. 385, 556 A.2d 1158, 1161 n. 4 (1989). "It is only the [defendant's] state of mind that counts." It is from the available facts that the issue is resolved. Much as when the state's case must evidence a "specific intent" crime.



Defendant Rowe was allowed to leave the party along with Swickey's other guests; however, subject to the search. She was conducted to the bedroom to retrieve her shoes and was given the opportunity to claim any other property belonging to her. When asked by the police officer if anything else belonged to her, she stated that she had retrieved everything in the bedroom that was hers. That repudiation of interest in property located the bedroom is consistent with a conclusion of abandonment. It is not, however, inconsistent with a conclusion of mere disclaimer of interest to avoid self-incrimination. The state failed to produce evidence which would develop this issue and perhaps meet its burden of proving abandonment under search and seizure analysis. Accordingly, abandonment in the Fourth Amendment sense was not established by the state.

### POINT III

GOOD FAITH AND AN APPROPRIATE REMEDY  
(DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT RELIES ALMOST EXCLUSIVELY  
UPON THE RULINGS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.  
BASED THEREON, DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT ADOPTS ALMOST ENTIRELY  
THE RULINGS THEREIN.)

The state further claims the search can be validated by the officer's good faith reliance on the deficient warrant. United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 920-23, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 3419-20, 82 L.Ed.2d 677 (1984). In Leon, the Supreme Court held that the exclusionary rule, aimed at deterring unlawful police conduct, does not bar evidence

obtained by officers acting in good faith reliance on a defective warrant. Id. But the Leon doctrine is not without limitations. When the magistrate reviewing the affidavit in support of the search warrant is not presented with sufficient facts to determine probable cause, the warrant cannot be relied upon by searching officers. Id. 468 U.S. at 915, 104 S.Ct. at 3417. The Court determined that there was nothing in the affidavit in this case that would offer any basis to the magistrate for a finding of probable cause to allow a nighttime search. It appears from the record that the endorsement of the nighttime authorization was done in impermissible "rubber stamp" fashion. See Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 111, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 1512, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964).

Any officer, cognizant of his responsibility to uphold constitutional guarantees, should easily recognize the impermissibility of rubber stamp warrants.

The question of the officer's good faith reliance is subject to de novo determination by this court. United States v. Freitas, 800 F.2d 1451, 1454 (9th Cir. 1986). The conduct of the officers executing the search warrant must be objectively reasonable. Leon, 468 U.S. at 919, 104 S.Ct. at 3419.

Police officers cannot ignore an unambiguous statutory directive to present the magistrate with "reasonable cause to believe a search is necessary in the night," Utah Code Ann. §77-23-5(1) (1990), and then claim that their very failure to do so is objectively reasonable conduct on their part. See Leon, 468 U.S. at 919 n. 20, 104 S.Ct. at 3419 n. 20 (objective standard requires reasonable knowledge of the law by police officers); United States v. Freitas, 610 F.Supp. 1560, 1572 (N.D.Cal. 1985) (police agency must train officers, who have obligation to ensure that warrant comports with constitutional law), aff'd, 800 F.2d 1451 (9th Cir. 1986).

In this case, the same officer prepared the affidavit, secured the warrant, and executed the search. He had personal knowledge of the affidavit's contents. They were so cavalier in its preparation that the magistrate was dated subsequent to the search. A Leon exception should not be utilized to circumvent constitutional protections or to cover "sloppy" police work.

Having so concluded, we must now turn our attention to whether the warrant's issuance in violation of the nighttime search requirements necessitates suppression of the evidence seized, namely the drugs and other items found in the defendant's purse. We recognize that mere ministerial and technical errors in the preparation or execution of search warrants will not, without more, invalidate the warrant. See, e.g., State v. Buck, 756 P.2d 700, 702-03 (Utah, 1988) (violation of "knock-and-announce" rule did not require suppression when no one was at home at the time of the search to respond to the knock). Cf. State v. Kirn, 70 Haw. 206, 767 P.2d 1238, 1239-40 (1989) (suppression may be appropriate for violation of constitution, statute, or administrative regulation).

However, where a statute establishes procedures for protection of substantive rights, such as section 77-23-5 does, violation of the statute cannot be dismissed as technical or ministerial in nature and suppression of the evidence gained from the challenged search is the appropriate remedy. Awaya v. State, 5 Haw.App. 547, 705 P.2d 54, 59 (seizure of evidence not particularly described in the warrant required suppression), cert. denied. 7 Haw. 685, 744 P.2d 781 (1985); Wiggin v. State 755 P.2d 115, 117 (Okla.Crim.App. 1988) (violation of statute similar to section 77-23-5 mandates suppression); State v.

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